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H. B. Stewart, Jr. 

Trip Diary Cuba 1972 

Linda Pikula and Ashley Jefferson (Editors) 

 

ABSTRACT  

This diary, written by Dr. Harris B. Stewart, first Director of the Atlantic 

Oceanographic and Meteorological Laboratory, Miami, Florida documents the 

travel experiences of the delegates to the Fifth Meeting of the International 

Coordination Group for the Cooperative Investigation of the Caribbean and 

Adjacent Regions (CICAR). The science report of this Conference has also been 

scanned and attached as an Appendix to this Diary. The arrival of the group was 

delayed for three days when Hurricane Agnes prevented the Cubana de Aviacion 

plane from arriving in Mexico City to transport them to Cuba.  By Resolution V-11 

of the Fifth Session IOC adopted CICAR as an IOC program for international 

cooperation and established the IOC to coordinate the multi-nation investigation of 

the oceanographic characteristics of the Caribbean Sea and the adjacent regions. 

UNESCO had previously entered into an agreement with Cuba by which the host 

country had to agree to grant entry to accredited delegations from all eligible IOC 

nations.  Since the U.S. had sent delegates to all previous IOC CICAR meetings, 

there was no reason not to do so for this one.  Although this was the first official 

U.S. Delegation to visit Cuba in the 11 years that Prime Minister Fidel Castro had 

been in power. The State Department at that time reiterated that this in no way 

reflected a change in official U.S. policy towards the government of Cuba. 

INTRODUCTION     

When Dr. Harris Stewart left with the U.S. Delegation to Cuba on June 15, 

1972, he also carried with him 90 pounds of paperwork on CICAR (The 

Cooperative Investigation of the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions). 

In subsequent years the CICAR Working Group noted with pleasure that in 

many countries the very existence of CICAR has apparently resulted in much 

closer national coordination and cooperation among marine science activities as 
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well as establishing close international associations that would allow continuing 

cooperation in the years ahead.  

Dr. Harris Stewart ends his Cuba Diary in this way.   

“It has been an interesting trip, but I think I will wait until Cuba is a happier 

city before I try it again” Perhaps now it is time to return?  

DIARY AND TRANSCRIPTION 

The Stewart family donated the papers of Dr. Stewart to NOAA's Atlantic 

Oceanographic and Meteorological Laboratory upon his passing on April 25, 2000.   

Among the Stewart materials were 13 field diaries written over several decades, 

most during the time of great ocean exploration.  The diaries are being transcribed 

and published as a series. 
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PHOTOGRAPHS 

 

Stamped Envelope--from top to bottom/left to right: Robert B. Stan (AOML Ch. Scientist), John 

B. Hazelworth (AOML), Rocky Tucker (Texas A&M), George Berberian (AOML), Joe Tashiro 

(NMFS), Robert P. List (AOML), Douglas A. Jones, John M. VanLandingham (NMFS), Craig?? 

(PhOD AOML NOAA), Thomas B. Sellers (Texas A&M), George A. Maul (AOML), Pat Tucker 

(free-lance reporter), John R. Apel (AOML), Sam Williams (FSU), Millicent Quammen (FSU), 

Tom Schiffe (FSU), Pat Bush (AOML), Virginia Broderick (NOAA), Nancy Yates (NOAA).    
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Stamped envelope--from top to bottom/left to right: Dr. Donald Hanson (AOML Ch. Scientist), 

John Jennings (EDL), Fred New (EDL), Ben Culverhouse (AOML), Jack Faulkenhof (EDL), 

Thomas Maloney (EDL), John Festa (AOML), Peter Conners (AOML), Feodore Ostapoff 

(AOML Ch. Scientist), Dr. Kirby Hanson (AOML), Mrs. Sylvia Worthem (AOML), William 

Everard (AOML), Dr. Kirk Bryan (ERL), Donald Waters (AOML), Charles Ramsey (G.E), 

Richard Rutkowski (AOML), Monte Poindexter (AOML), Gerald Putland (AOML), R. Dorsett 

(G.E), Robert Berles (AOML), Mr. Jack Main (NWS), Frank Kehir (NWS), Manuel Aparicio (U 

of M), Mr. David Pashinski (AOML), Mr. Bernard Zetler (AOML), Mr. Robert Waugh 

(NAVOCEO), Mr. J. Fagot (NAVOCEO), RADM Alfred C. Holmes (Director, AMC). 
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Stamped envelope sent by Harris B. Stewart (CICAR, Habana Libre Hotel, Havana) to Jack 

Kofoed (NOAA/AOML, 901 S. Miami Ave., Miami).  AOML was located at the South Miami 

Avenue prior to the construction of the building in Virginia Key. Stewart attended a CICAR 

(Cooperative Investigations of the Caribbean and Adjecent Regions) meeting in Habana in 1971. 

He stayed at the Habana Libre Hotel that was the Havana Hilton before it was intervened by the 

Castro Regime. 

The envelope was from the El Diplomatico Hotel, Insurgentes Sur 1105, Mexico City, Mexico. 

The Cuban stamps from left to right are: Museo de la Ciudad de La Habana.  Isabel II by 

Federico Madrazo, 13 cents, May 25, 1972; Obras de Arte del Museo Nacional, Sta. Catalina de 

Alejandria by F. Zurbaran, 1 cent, 1971; Fauna Silvestre, Yaguaza (Dendrocygna arborea; West 

Indian whistling duck), 2 cents, 1970; Semana del Transito, Prudence the Bear on duty, “Pare” 

(Stop), 9 cents, 1970;  1o de Mayo (First of May). Viva la Alianza Obrero Campesina, 1972; and 

Aniversatio del Servicio de Radiodifusion Internacional, 50 cents, 1971. (There are no standard 

stamp catalogs for Cuban postage stamps issued after the early 1960s.)   
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Photograph--from left to right: Dr. Harris B. Stewart, Dr. Robert Molinari, Mr. John Brucks, 

Dr. John Antoine at Habana Libre Hotel 
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Cuba Trip 15-16 June ‘72 

for the 

Vth International Coordination Group for CICAR 
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All crossed out U.S.A’s at Vth CICAR 

 

H.B.S. [Harris B. Stewart Jr.]Delegate 

Dr. Robert Molinari (AOML) Alternate Delegate 

Dr. John Antoine (TAMU) [Texas A & M] 

Mr. John Brucks (NMFS) 

Mr. Feodor Ostapoff (AOML) (Met. Coord) 

Mr. Bernard Zetler (AOML) (S.L. for Tides) 

Mr. Rene Cuzon du Rest (NODC) (Data Coord) 

Dr. Robert Lankford (UNESCO) 

Boure (FMO) 
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1. 

Thursday 15, June, 1972 

Destination Cuba!  It sounds strange, but that is 

where we are headed.  Now at something over 

30,000ft over the Gulf of Mexico headed toward 

Merida on the Yucatan Peninsula en route to 

Mexico flight.  But in our pockets are passports with 

special stamps to allow us to enter and leave Cuba.  

The Pan Am ticket girl back at Miami raised her 

eyebrows as she saw that our tickets to Mexico City 

went on to Havana.  She looked at each of us in 

turn- me, BZ, Feo, Molinari, Rene and John Brucks- 

shrugged her shoulders as through to say “The 

world is full of crazy people” and added aloud, “I am 

glad to see you have return tickets.”  

 

Pan Am Flight 552 was posted for a 6:15 AM 

departure, but it was after  
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2. 

seven when we lifted off to climb steeply over 

Biscayne Bay.  The plan banked sharply to the right 

through a layer of small clouds, and we settled back 

for the four hour flight. 

Right behind us were Gines and Mendes from 

Venezuela, and their Delegation Head, Carlos 

Atilano, and his wife were up in first class.  At the 

airport we had run into Rossignole from France, and 

he was aboard too, so we knew at least three 

countries would be represented in Havana. 

A quick stop at Merida, and then 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         

3. 
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 Mexico City.  John Antoine from Texas A & M met 

the plane along with a grad student of Bob 

Lankford’s at UNAM called Eric Jordan (or HoarDAN 

as he called him) to the Public Affairs man at the 

airport helped speed us all through customs, Health 

and Immigration, our bags- loaded with some 90 

pounds of reports – were piled into the University 

truck and we bucked thro busy evening traffic into 

the city and the Hotel el Diplomatico on Insurgentes 

Sur. 

 

Bob Lankford, now with UNESCO in Mexico, met us 

there, as did Oleg Mamayer, the Soviet with IOC in 

Paris.  We had a nightcap in the hotel and admired 

the busty singer belting out loud songs in Spanish, 

and were off to bed.  It should be an interesting day 

tomorrow as we head for Havana.  

                                                                                                                                                                        

4. 
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Friday, 16 June, 1972 Mexico City, D.F. 

By 8:30 we were all breakfasted, checked out of our 

rooms, and our bags were neatly stacked near the 

hotel entrance ready for the trip to the airport and 

our 1130 flight to Havana- “But, Senior it is 

necessario that you arrive two hours before the 

departure”. 

Then it started to happen!  Oleg Mamayev reported 

that he had just had a call from Michel Angot that 

the flight to Havana on CU-465 had been 

“cancelled”. A few calls later we discovered that 

rather than cancelled, it was merely postponed, and 

it would leave tomorrow at the same time.   All bags 

went back up to the rooms – 108, 408, and 608 and 

Bob Lankford and Hoar DAN ran us all out of the city 

to the north, and we had a good day at the 

Pyramids of Teotihuacan, and the Temple of 

Quetzaleoah. 
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5. 

I held a U.S. Delegation meeting in 608 about 6 PM and 

clued in the others on our instructions, position papers 

and the various do’s and don’ts I had gotten from Joe 

Norberg and Ron Goddard at the Cuban Desk of State 

during my pre-Cuba briefing in Washington last Monday. 

We all ate together at a fine Mexican restaurant on 

Insurgentes and took in the 3 hour show at La Terrace.  

All of us felt that the night life in Havana would probably 

be uninteresting to non-existent, so Thurs was our last 

fling. 

Saturday 17, June, 1972 

The wake-up call at 0700 seemed awfully early, 

somehow, but we were all packed and down for huevos 

rancheros and black coffee by 7:45. This time we left our 

bags in the room.  Getting those 90 pounds of reports up 

and down between the lobby and the 6th floor – 3 trips so 

far- was 
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6. 

                                                                                                                                                                              

bankrupting us in tips, so we left them up there 

until we knew for sure that CU-465 would leave this 

morning as advertised. 

Rene- who speaks the best Spanish of us all – call 

the Cuban Airline at 0800, and the jinx is still on!  

The flight will not leave today at 11:15.  It is 

expected to leave about 7 P.M. tonight, and we 

must be at the airport by 5:00, but we should check 

about 3:00 PM to see.  We are all psyched up to go, 

and I could see the disappointment on the faces of 

the others.  We are ready, and these repeated 

delays and uncertainties are frustrating. 

There has been no explanation offered for the 

delays.  Speculations include bad weather – and 

that is indeed possible, for there was a depression 

over the Yucatan Peninsula and the radio reported 

that Western Cuba got 12 inches of rain in  
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 7. 

24 hours.  Others speculated that the Cuban 

Government just did not want a batch of curious 

foreign scientists wandering around Havana for two 

days waiting for some meetings to start.  The 7:00 

PM departure now projected would put us into 

Havana well after dark tonight and this 

strengthened the idea that Cuba was deliberate in 

allowing us the least possible chance to see and to 

photograph.  Only time will tell – if even that. 

 

About 1 PM after a long long walk, some tacos, a 

chile rellianos and a beer, I got back to the 

Diplomatico to find a note on a call that had come 

in to me last evening from a Mr. Geureia at Habana 

de Aviation with the same dope we got via Rene 

this morning but saying to call about 1:30 “if you 

have any doubts”. I did and not only does it not go 

at 7: PM, it doesn’t even go on  
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8. 

Sunday – tomorrow.  It is – he said- now scheduled 

for 1:45 PM on Monday! When I asked him, why?  I 

was told “there is a hurricane at Havana”.  We are 

all getting a bit fed up with this one.  If I am to have 

a few days off, Mexico City would not be my 

number one choice. 

 

Mamayev is quite annoyed – too.  He is calling the 

local U.N. office and I will call our Embassy here to 

be sure that the word gets back up to Washington 

on this one.  All of us – but Rene & B.Z. who sacked 

out early – went to Room 108 where we worked 

away on some of the duty-free we brought with us 

– a good party.  In the midst of it, I had a call from 

Tom Van Hof from Curacao.  He and Langreraar, 

Postma & MacGillory from the Netherlands are all 

at the Holiday Inn out near the airport and they are 

a (along with Itenny from Trinidad)  
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 9.                                                                                        

bit annoyed too. We now have the U.S., UNESCO, 

Venezuela, WMO, France, Netherlands, Mexico, and 

Trinidad and Tobago all here in Mexico City, so I 

suggested the Cubans come up here & we hold it 

here. 

Senor Feo leaves for Rio the first of July – Saturday 

of the week we hope to leave Cuba – he felt that 

the departure might be as delayed as the arrival and 

he would be in trouble, so he heads back to Miami 

via New Orleans on Sunday. 

Tomorrow I hope to sleep in and meet Langeraar et 

al. at the archeological museum in the late morning. 
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10. 

Sunday, June 18th 

 

At 8:45 Tom Van’t Hof woke me with a telephone 

call – we will meet Langeraar et al.  plus Scott from 

the unit who is now here also, at the National 

Anthropological Museum at 1300.  Ayala, Mexican 

CICAR Coordinator called shortly thereafter, & he 

will meet with us at 1300. 

Feo is off at 1 PM today for Miami via New Orleans, 

and I had a session with him so that I could double 

as the WMO representative in case we do get to 

Havanna.  Ayala told me that there is a hurricane at 

Havana and this provides a good rationale for the 

repeated delays in the departure.  Since Leelee will 

be worried, thinking I am in Havana, Feo will call her 

in Massachusetts tonight when he gets to Miami.  

We had a good meeting at 
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11. 

the National Museum of Antrhopology some 20 of 

us, then the tour through that magnificent museum, 

and I walked the six or so miles back to the El 

Diplomatico.  En route I stopped at our Embassy 

and sent an airgram to State to alert them as to 

what had transpired and to set up Henry Postma of 

the Netherlands for a Visa to the U.S.  

 

Since Feo has left, BZ has moved in with Rene and 

me, and he is sleeping peacefully.  I finally managed 

to buy some stamps at the Sheraton Hotel on my 

long walk, so my letters to Leelee, Kofoed, and 

Itelles can go off in the morning. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

26 
 

12. 

Monday, 19 June, 1972 

Habana de Aviacion said this morning that they 

would fly today! I’ll believe it when airborne and 

not before. So we are all packed up again and will 

leave the hotel about 10:30.  I checked to try and 

get us all on the Havana Mexico flight on Friday the 

23rd, as Langeraar & Mamayen have to leave Friday 

& I suspect the meetings will end Thursday.  But the 

girl said it was full- no space, and no stand by list. 

So, it looks as though we will have to hole up in 

Cuba over next weekend.  Perhaps we can get in 

some sightseeing. 

 

We piled our bags into three taxis, & Mamayev, 

Lankford, and six of us from the USA roared off to 

the airport.  Somehow the bar seemed to be where 

people were collecting.  New additions to the group 

were Ingmar Emilsson – the Icelander now with 
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13. 

UNESCO – and Luis Capurro-ditto but from 

Argentina, then Phil Kearey, geophysicist on HMS 

Heela who worked with the Discoverer:  Capt Juan 

Pablo Rarran, Ortiz Borda, Haime Hernandez, and 

Constantino Topias all from Columbia, Michele 

Angot & Denise Myala, Caranza Frazier (and Ama 

Manza, who came to see him off and sent her love 

to Leelee), Itenny from Trinidad & Tobago, CDR Des 

Scott from the unit, 17 es Gillirry & Postma from the 

Netherlands, Rossingnoule from France, Mamayev 

& Lankford from UNESCO, and a gaggle of 

translators from Mexico, Colombia, & Venezuela. 

More sitting, more waiting, and finally we were in a 

long line at the end of which was a party official in 

powder blue uniform under a sign that read Cubana 

si.  The chances began to look better.  Passports 

were checked and a boarding card was issued- mine 

was 10C, but it looked like IOC.  
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14.  

Then there was a long wait in the departure lounge, 

and a nine year old boy did a good polish job on my 

shoes for two pesos ($0.24). It was by then after 

4PM-for our 1:45 flight!  Finally the call came over 

the speaker system, & we lined up, showed our 

passes, and walked out into the bright sunshine 

toward one of the 4-engine turboprop Bristol 

Brittania with “Cubana” in big letters on the side.  

At 4:36 we started to taxi for take-off.  The girl 

came on in Spanish – then in English to say 

“Welcome aboard Cubana flight 465, destination 

Habana” plus the usual seat-belt and smoking 

admonitions, a slow bumpy taxi, and at 4:45 we 

were airborne for the 3 ¾ hr flight to Havana. 

    Even before the no smoking sign went off, the 

cabin steward passed out copies of today’s edition 
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15. 

Of Granma billed as “Organo Oficial del Comite 

Central del Partido Comunista de Cuba.” It had 

photos of the storm tide from Hurricane Agnes and 

a map which showed her to be well north of Dry 

Tortugas, so I suspect Miami will miss this one. 

     There is a leak in the double window in my row, 

and a great fountain of bubbles grows steadily as air 

bubbles through the water collected between the 

two windows. 

     Dinner included a cup of warm very good 

consumme, but all the rest was stone cold – baked 

chicken, rice and mixed green beans, peas, & 

carrots.  There were three slices of tomatoes, a 

good sponge cake of some sort with chocolate 

frosting, and a plastic cup of beer- refilled once.  

Interestingly enough, no coffee and no drinks. Later 

the chubby stewardess brought a small paper 
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16. 

Cup with about 2 inches of black sweet Cuban 

coffee- on the cool side of warm, then came a tray 

with cigarettes in a five-per-pack configuration 

called “Habana-68,” and cigars.  I picked “Habana-

68.”  They are non-filters, strong, and they do not 

stay lit but need a full supply of matches to keep 

them going.  

     At just 10 PM (EDT) the plane touched down at 

Jose Marti airport at Habana, and we had in fact 

arrived.  The 30 or so CICAR people aboard were 

taken separately, by passing all the normal 

formalities with passports & public health, and led 

into a paneled room with big cocktail tables & 

chairs where Dr. Santander and the other Cubans 

waited for us.  A Mr. Haeni from the Swiss Embassy 

introduced himself to me and offered to help in any 

way possible.  We then met a most attractive black 
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17.  

Cuban girl who has been assigned to the U.S. 

delegation. She is Miss Orlaida (Or-LIE-Da but has 

Leeda as a nickname), and of course she 

immediately became known as our fearless Leeda. 

She is just lovely, and the younger members plan 

already to take her dancing one night.  Met Maria 

Diaz the Cuban UNESCO rep. here, and she said all 

the arrangements were made with the help of ICAP- 

for (approximately) Instituto Cubano por Amisdad 

por los Pueblos or Cuban Friendship Institute.  

     Miss Orlaida gave us each an ICAP from to fill 

out- name, country, address, and short bio 

statement asking for organization, title, degrees, 

etc. She then collected these – together with our 

passports, shot records, declaration and tickets, 

baggage checks, and landing card and we haven’t 

seen them since.  They did check them, because 

Cuzan du Rest was called out and had to get a  
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18. 

Smallpox shot & one other.  By then a man with a 

big tray was passing out ice cold daiquiris to all, and 

the level of noisy conversations rose a few decibels.  

Delegations were called out one or two at a time to 

collect their baggage.  The customs man had me 

open each one, but his search was perfunctory.  He 

was pleasant and helpful & stamped my tag with a 

smile. 

     A porter loaded all our bags under Leeda’s 

directions, and we followed her and a Mr. Severano 

outside where three nearly-new Fiat 18 passenger 

buses waited for us.  By then it was about 11:15 

PM. 

     The ride into downtown Habana took about 25 

minutes.  There seemed to be much less light than 

one would expect of a big city and relatively few 

cars.  We pulled up in the circular drive. 
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19. 

Before the Hotel Habana Libre (the former Havana 

Hilton) and were ushered into the big bare lobby to 

sign in.  There was relatively little confusion, rooms 

had been assigned, and our identification cards 

were all ready.  Leeda came along and saw us all 

ensconced on the 19th floor overlooking the harbor 

– lovely at night. 

 

     The room is big. Twin beds, desk, chairs – no rug- 

and the bathroom is also large with a tub, shower, 

toilet, bidet, and a gray marble sink-shelf 

arrangement.  On the desk were boxed gifts from 

ICAP, each with a big ICAMP printed on it:  a bar of 

soap, a packet of 5 Cuban cigars, a box with four 

packs of B & S Visant Cigarettes, and a box with a 

tissue-wrapped bottle of Havana Club “Genuino Ron 

Cubano”.  Then we were whisked back down in the 

fast elevator to the 2nd floor where 
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20. 

three young ladies in red, green, and white striped 

dresses had our packets of papers – each in a black 

briefcase with V Reunion CICAR, Cuba’72 printed in 

white and a metal identification badge. 

     The next room was set up for food, so we all sat 

and had “fresca” or beer and good fresh pineapple 

and hard rolls & butter.  Verera came by and said 

hello, and I introduced him to the others.  By then it 

was after 1 AM, so we broke up & went up to bed. 

     Each of us has a single room with a balcony – 

really most attractive and I am glad to say with 

functioning air conditioning.  I left a call for 0700 

and unpacked for the first time in 4 days!  The 

Havana Telephone book in room 1902 is the 1967 

version, subtitled “1967, Ano del Viet-Nam 

Heroico.” 
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21. 

Tuesday. 20 June 1972 

     Last night’s impressions have been a bit modified 

in the cold light of Cuban dawn.  There is no hot 

water in the Habana Libre Hotel, and about a third 

of the CICAR delegates are sporting razor cuts 

today. 

     Breakfast (room & 3 meals $18 U.S.) was fried 

eggs with some sort of strong sausage – split and 

baked, hard rolls & butter.  We have a special CICAR 

dining room, and all our meals are to be taken 

there.  The first session was called for 0900, but it 

was 1005 AM before the Cuban Vice-Minister for 

Education arrived.  He is Julio Le Revirandt, and he 

said all the proper things about science, the sea and 

the general improvement of man’s lot on earth, and 

left.  The meetings are being held in a salon on the 

mezzanine.  There are brass name plates at each  

22. 
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delegation location, and we are down front as 

Estudos Unidas.  The headphones for simultaneous 

translation are self-contained sets made by Denon 

in Japan and work well.  We will meet each day 

from 0900 to 1300, break for two hours, then 1500 

to 1830. 

     At noon I wanted to go to the Swiss Embassy to 

checkin and planned to walk the 6 or 8 blocks, but 

Leeda insisted that she provide a car for me, and 

she ushered me to a 1958 Plymouth complete with 

driver.  This was my first up-close daylight view of 

Havana, and it was indeed most depressing. One 

can only imagine what a lovely city it once was, but 

now it is shabby and very rundown.  The grass 

grows long in the small plots along the streets.  

Every building needs paint.  Broken windows stay 

broken, fences are 

 

23.  
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down, torn awnings stay torn, and there are long 

queues outside the bread store. There are some 

foreign cars – relatively new, but such private cars 

as are in evidence are mainly U.S. made and all 

1958 or 9 or earlier.  They are all in bad shape – 

dented, rusted, and all clank loudly.  Mostly they 

seem to be Chevys and Plymouths. Either they were 

the main ones that were imported or – more 

probably, they have a better survival factor.  All, 

however, were in bad shape. 

     At the Milan Theatre, the movie playing was “La 

Fiesta de San Iorgen”, and below the title were the 

words “Film Sovietico.” 

     The former U.S. Embassy building on Calzada and 

the Malecon – right on the waterfront, is badly in 

need of repair.  The grass is cut, but pieces of the 

outside have flaked off, 

 

24. 
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Tiles are missing from the floor, and paint is needed 

everywhere.  I gave my card to the man at the desk 

and asked for Mr. Haeni of the Swiss Embassy’s 

Servicio de los Intereses Estrangeros.  The Swiss 

cover not only the U.S. interests in Cuba but those 

of some seven other countries.  The first couple of 

floors are filled with stuff stored from the days 

when the U.S. was in the building, one floor is 

devoted to the airlift operation, and the top floor is 

the Foreign Interests group.  Mr. Haeni met me at 

the elevator – a most cordial and voluble Swiss – 

and we walked down the paneled corridor to his 

office.  Behind his desk was a large map of Cuba, 

and on one wall were the standard U.S. Embassy 

black and white photographs of Mt. Vernon, the 

Washington Monument, and the Jefferson 

Memorial.  We 

 

 

25. 



 

39 
 

made small talk, and I told him of Feo’s return, our 

flight, and that the meetings seemed to be going 

OK.  I also told him that we would need Mexican re-

entry visas.  I assumed that since our passports 

were all being held, the Cubans would add the 

proper papers to insure that we left their island, but 

I wanted to be sure.  Mr. Haeni said he would check 

on this for me. His assistant is a Mr. Hunkeler.  For 

the record, the telephone there is 32-0551 or 0559, 

Haeni’s private line at home is 21-8645, and 

Hunkeler’s is 32-5646. A Mr. Inhelder joined us (32-

3937) then we chatted about the Kurchatov visit to 

Miami, the U.S. position that being here reflected 

no change in U.S. policy towards Cuba, and the 

appallingly run-down condition of Havana. 

 

My driver brought me directly 
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Back to the hotel, but I did have a chance to see a 

bit more.  What once must have been lovely 

apartment houses along the Malecon were badly 

run down.  They evidently are jammed with people, 

for the bare front yards were full of barefoot kids 

playing, and the front steps were crowded with 

people just sitting.  It reminded me of a cross 

between the slums of the lower East Side in New 

York and Manila just as WWII ended.  The whole 

scene was very depressing, and I had the feeling 

that a once lovely city had lost all its pride and was 

rapidly going to seed. 

     Back at the Habana Libre, I changed a twenty 

dollar bill for 18 pesos, 40 centavos (not even a one 

to one conversion) and tried the door from the 

lobby into the branch post office.  It 
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Was locked – and so were all but one of the wide 

row of entrance doors to the hotel.  At that door 

was a tall Cuban in green Castro-like fatigues and 

fatigue hate with a .45 at his hip.  I’d not seen him 

before, and if he was guarding the place, he was 

doing a poor job, for he merely glanced as I went 

out and returned to his conversation with the short 

girl in a blue sort of uniform who was leaning 

against the open door.  That door, like all the others 

has an automatic treadle-operated opener, but it 

evidently is broken, for a large cinder block (and a 

girl) holds it open. 

     Once, in the branch post office, I managed to 

convey the idea that I wanted four of each of their 

stamps, and I got 4.32 pesos worth. Some four 
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Envelopes are now well stamped and go off today.  I 

will be interested to see when – and if – they arrive. 

     The meetings broke up about 6:30, and we all 

returned to our rooms to prepare for an 8:00 

reception on the 25th floor lounge.  Zether has a 

portable radio and reported that he is able to get 

WIOD in Miami, but there was only music-no news. 

 

     The reception was nice and the conversations 

lively.  Dario Guitart is no longer Director of the 

Instituto de Oceanologia, but is listed as an advisor.  

A younger man, Dr. Claro is the new Director.  I had 

a good talk with Carlos Garcia who is the physical 

oceanographer with the Instituto Nacional de la 

Pesca of CIPCCentero de  
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Investigariones Pesquerras).  They have been doing 

a good deal of work in Campeche Bank working out 

the current patterns there, and he was particularly 

interested in our work from Virginia Key last month 

in the Yucatan Channel, so I put him and Bob 

Molinari.  

     We all danced with our little Molhur - Lueda, and 

the partly was still in full swing when I left about 

11:00 to work up the summary statement of the 

U.S. National Programme ( as they spell it in 

UNESCO) for CICAR.) They want for the formal 

report of the meeting. 
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Wednesday, 21 June, 1972 

Today was almost completely business. NOAA-

AOML is the real hero of these meetings, & I am 

indeed proud.  What with our 300+ page report, our 

NOAA Carib course this Fall for the education and 

training they are screaming for, our putting Pete 

Connors on the ARC San Andres of Colombia, and 

our MARMAP program for which we need the help 

of the CICAR nations, plus the work that Brucks, 

Molinari, and Antoine have put in the U.S. is 

smelling like a rose. 

     We have been getting the real VIP treatment. 

Tonight I met Comus of the French OSTRAN who is 

here in relation to some soils work for Cuba, and he 

had (been subjected to) a lengthy baggage search 

and had to 
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declare all his money – all of this we were spared. 

  

     All day today has been work.  I holed up in the 

room in the morning and wrote out a quick 

summary of the meeting programme for Ostapoff, a 

summary of the U.S. A. Program and draft 

resolutions on IGOSS and UNESCO support for the 

travel of CICAR nationals to and from the Discoverer 

on NOAA-Carib. All are now at the typist on the 17th 

floor.  Getting them to her was less than easy, 

however.  From the 19th floor, I rang and rang for 

the elevator with no results, so I decided to walk 

down the 2 floors to the 17th.  I took the stairs, but 

at the 17th floor I found the door locked, so I went 

back up to the 19th floor, and found that had been 

locked behind me.  I knocked for a  
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while, but no answer.  So I started down.  There 

were no skeletons on the stair well, so I assumed 

that others had not been trapped there too long, 

but it was 18 doors later, on the ground floor- 

planta baja-that I finally got out and I almost kissed 

the fat Cubana maid that opened the door just as I 

got there. 

     After dinner tonight, Leeda – our fearless Leeda, 

took us on a walk, BZ Rene, Severano, and me.  We 

walked down Calle 23 to the Malecon.  From the old 

Esso map I got from Ron Goddard, I knew that the 

Malecon had been called Avenida George 

Washington, but neither Leeda nor Severanno knew 

that name.  To them it had always been Malecon. 
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Along the seawall families lolled and lovers necked, 

and the air was clean off the ocean.  We walked 

along the Malecon to Calzada de Belacoan, and 

then back via Calle 25 to the hotel. It was a good 

walk, and the city looked much better at night when 

the unpainted and unrepaired parts were less 

visible. 

     Airgram to State was drafted and will go out 

tomorrow. 
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Thursday, 22 June, 1972 

This morning was all work.  Scott from the U.K. 

nominated me for chairman of the working group 

on National Programs and John Antoine was 

rapporteur.  By keeping things moving, we managed 

to wind up by 12:30. 

     Had a beer for lunch with Des Scott & Lankford, 

for I have been eating too much and no exercise to 

speak of. 

     Since we were about to go to the Instituto de 

Oceanologia, I called the Swiss Embassy, but there 

was a language barrier I couldn’t break, other than 

to learn that Mr. Inhelder was at his “casa”.  I called 

there and he said he would collect my airgram here 

at the desk. 
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     The Instituto de Oceanologia is 
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Right on the shore east of the central city in what 

once must have been a lovely private home.  Dr. 

Claro met our three Fiat buses, and we assembled 

in what once was the living room – open double 

doors to the sea on one side and to the central 

patio on the other.  The walls held several framed 

scrolls from the local Cuban Workers Union 

attesting to the diligence of the Instituto and we sat 

on metal chairs while Dr. Claro explained his 

Institute in Spanish while big Maria translated.  

They are part of the Cuban Academy of Sciences, 

and the staff of about 40 is augmented by a dozen 

or so Soviets.  Plankton, physical, Chemical, 

Icthyological, Geological, and Pollution labs were all 

visited.  We all had the feeling that little research 

was going on.  It just didn’t “feel” like a working lab, 

and we all felt it. 
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In the Chemistry lab, only the salinometer worked.  

Even the pH meter was inoperative.  There were 

some scientific books about, but I did see one pub 

titled – approximately- “Results of the Symposium 

on Yanqui Genocide Program in Viet Nam, and the 

wall of each room had at least one political poster- 

usually quite colorful, and Che Guevera prominent 

in most of them. Instrumentation was almost nil.  

They are strictly a shelf group with much of their 

work concentrated in the coastal lagoons.  The 

Golfo de Batabano between the main island and Isla 

de Pinos (Isle of Pines) is getting their special 

attention, and I was told that there is a plan to run a 

causeway-bridge all the way from Surgidero de 

Batabano on the coast (directly south of Habana) 

over some 70 miles to the Isle of Pines.  In addition, 

there 
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are plans to block off the mouth of Ensenada de la 

Broa- some 30 miles across!- and make it a fresh 

water lake.  

     The Instituto operates two boats, one 60 ft. – 

one about 70 feet, and both are used only for close-

in work on the shelf.  One of the U.S. I think 

Lankford, talked to an FAO man there who said that 

in the year he has been there, they have had one 

scientific seminar and 70 political ones.  In the 

fisheries lab, there were 4 Russians who stood and 

looked embarrassed as we came in.  They are 

working on fish vision and on schooling habits, have 

been there only a few weeks, & will stay for 6 

months and then be replaced by another team. 
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     The monument to the battleship Maine on the 

Malecon still stands, but the big eagle is gone from 

the top. 

 

38. 

“Our little mother” had had a birthday cake for Bob 

Molinari made – “Felicidades Molinari” it said on 

top.  After dinner, we were bused off into the night 

to view three government-made documentary 

films.  The best was one made of the first movie a 

hill town had ever seen.  It was extremely well 

done- as was one on catching crocodiles.  The one 

in the middle I missed completely – all talk & no 

action. 

 

     Afterwards we all went to the Tropicana – one of 

the world’s great nightclubs.  It was a 1930-type 

spectacular and lasted some two hours.  There were 

some 16 of us, and the bill came to 185 pesos – 
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about $201 U.S.!  We had two bottles of rum and 

several buckets of ice, soda, and “fresca” – some 

$13 apiece. 

 

39. 

Friday, 23 June 1972 

 

     Again, today was a work day- all day.  I had an 

0600 call so I could go over John Antoine’s notes of 

the Working Group, skipped breakfast and went 

directly to the sessions.  At the 1300-15—break for 

lunch, I skipped lunch in favor of a beer with John 

Antoine and Brucks and a trip to the Post Office to 

mail some gaudy envelopes. 

     What earlier I thought was just a 

misunderstanding about John Antoine’s Visa to re-

enter Mexico, may be a very real problem.  I alerted 

the Swiss Embassy people, and Inhelder has been 
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on it today.  Wires have gone off to Washington and 

to Mexico City, but 

 

 

40. 

no solution yet.  He is cheerful about it, but he is 

beginning to worry too.  If it is not cleared up today, 

I will skip the trip to the Fisheries Institute and help 

him if I can. 

 

     One of the UNESCO people met a cute girl at the 

Tropicana last night, and she agreed to meet him 

here at the Habana Libre for lunch.  He told me later 

that she was extremely uptight about coming, as 

the hotel is known as “the police hotel” and Cubans 

try to stay away from it. 
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     The work of the meeting wound up about 

7:30PM, and all the US-ers retired to 1902 to cut 

Molinari’s cake.  At dinner, quite a group 
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of us collected and somehow we began singing.  

There were the 5 ICAP Cuban girls;  the Langeraars, 

Postma, & van’t Hof from the Netherlands, Itenny 

from Trinidad, Scott & Kearey from England, Tapias 

from Colombia, the two Angots and Rossignole from 

France, Ayala and Lankford from Mexico and four 

Norte Americanos.  The songs had an equally 

international flavor and ranged from Aloueta 

through Row Row Row Your Boat done “en ronde” 

to Cuban revolutionary songs about Fidel in the 

mountains.  We had quite an audience collected by 

the time we quit about 1130 PM. It had been a good 

evening. 
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     Incidentalia:  50 ¢ per kilo for beef and 40 cents 

for chicken.  The Deauville has a special shop for 

Embassy people and 
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VIP’s.  Rene reported that rum there was $2 per 

bottle but $20 on the open market.  At the Habana 

Libre Hotel, rum drinks run 90¢ and others about 

$1.25.  Housing is either provided free or very 

cheaply, and telephones and utilities, as well as 

medical and schools, are all provided at no cost.  

Thus a mason making $25 per month can make it 

OK. 

    One of the men last eve said that the reason the 

night clubs are full is that there are no luxury items 

available to buy.  A man gets a permit for 2 pairs of 

shoes per year, but the shoes are not available in 
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the stores.  Long lines queue up for everything – 

bead to buses to ice cream.  
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     Molinari’s john won’t stop flushing, and mine 

won’t flush.  Mentioning the 250,000 Cubans in 

Miami, I was told by Severeno that these were not 

Cubans- most insistant- not Cubans but “counter-

revoluntionaries.” 

     The newspaper. Granma, daily has anti-Viet Nam 

articles of EEUU bombing atrocities in VietNam and 

spells Nixon’s name with a swastika throughout 

instead of the “x”.  

     Most of the CICAR people went out to the Centro 

Nacional de Investigaciones Cientificas this morning, 
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but I stayed to try and get John Antoine’s Visa 

problem squared away.  It is now 1245, and it is far 

from settled.  Leeda, Antoine, and I 
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went to the Swiss Embassy about 9:00 AM to see 

what we could do next.  It was closed, and although 

the man at the door made several calls, there was 

no word.  Walter Haeni’s telephone was still out, 

and there was no answer at Inhelder’s home.  I left 

word that I would be in room 1902 at the Habana 

Livre, and we came back.  Haeni has sent messages 

to State in D.C. and to the U.S. Embassy in Mexico 

City.  I alerted Ayala of Mexico that Antoine as well 

as the three non-governmental Colombians were all 

in the same fix.  Ayala said this morning he had 

called Mexico City and that his office was trying to 
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get the Secretaria de Gubernacion to telex or phone 

the 
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Mexican Consulate in Havana to grant the visas.  It 

is that Secreatria that must give the word before 

the Consulate here can move. 

 

     Then Inhelder called 1902 to say that he was 

trying to contact Mexico City and that the telex to 

Washington was broken down.  He also said that 

the Consulate of Mexico here had told him that if 

they get the word today, Antoine will get his visa 

OK. 
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However, we wanted to be covered, so I sent Leeda 

& Antoine to Iberia to see if he could get on the 

Tuesday plane to Madrid.  He can then get a Pan-

Am flight back from there to Washington or New 

York.  It developed 
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That the cost was to be $325, and he didn’t have it. 

I came up with $190 – saving enough to pay my 

hotel bill, as they will take only cash – he had about 

$90, and Molinari came up with the remaining $45.  

I think we still have enough to pay our hotel bills.  

Since the Iberia office closes at noon on Saturday 

and it ws a today or never situation, we worked as 

long as possible to get the word on a Mexican Visa, 

and at 1140 we sent Leeda off with our $325 to get 

Antoine’s ticket.  When she returned about noon, 

she was in tears – literally.  The ticket was to be 

$375 – not $325.  So we checked to see if the hotel 

would 
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take American Express Travelers checks, and the 

answer was no.   So we dug deeper.  I gave up $20 

and so did Molinari, & Antoine made up the rest, 

and Leeda ran off to inject all our money into the 

ICAP pipeline in hopes a redeemable ticket Havana-

to_Madrid comes out the other end – and in time. 

 

     Inhelder called about 1:00 PM to say he had 

finally gotten through to the U.S. Embassy in 

Mexico City.  They called the Secretaria de 

Gubernacion and were told the authorization to the 

Mexican Consulate in Habana had been sent 
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yesterday.  The U.S. asked them to back it up with a 

phone call.  The U.S. in Mexico also called the 

Colombian Embassy to alert them that Ortiz Barda, 

Tapias, and Hernandez all the same Visa problem.  
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I had already missed the tour in the morning on this 

Visa business, so I told Inhelder I would go with the 

group to the beach – and did.  Some eight of us 

went with Leeda in the Fiat bus to Playa Santa 

Maria, good sun and a nice beach some 8 or ten 

miles east of Havana. 

     Back for a rushed dinner- no answer at Inhelder’s 

– and off to “Cultural Activities”.  This was a packed 

Theater with a band, singers, a magician of sorts, 

and a really fine comic.  Back to the Habana Libre 

and the cabaret – 2 Mexicans, 3 French, etc. and a 

pleasant evening of dancing – and 90 more dollars! 
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     One of the Mexicans has become friendly with 

the floor 

 

 

 

49. 

maid, and every room is in fact bugged.  She told 

him it was in the air conditioner and wrote a note to 

him, as she was scared even to talk in the room.  

Scott said the U.K. knows it, and he was so 

informed. 

     By the time the cabaret show was over, it was 

too late to call Inhelder again. 
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Sunday, 25 June – 1972 

     As requested, the telephone woke me at 06:30 

AM, and we were breakfasted and in the buses by 

0830 & off on the 2 ½ hour run from Havana to 

Veradero Beach some 90 plus miles east of Havana 

along the north coast. 

 

     We ran along the Malecon to the harbor mouth 

across from Moro Castle, dropped down into the 

tunnel under the harbor, out the other side, and 

along the 6-lane road that goes at least to Playa 

Santa Maria. 
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     Lots of USSR – built jeeps on the road, and an 

armed & helmeted guard at a military installation, 

but all seems quiet, and that ride is through some 

lovely rolling country, along the coastal plain at first, 

then up into the coastal hills with 

51. 

magnificent views across the palm-studded green 

inland valley to mountains in the distance.  Then 

down the long grade to the city of Matanzas at the 

head of Matanzas Bay.  Through the town – even 

more run-down than Havana, and along the flat 

coastal upraised reef surface, past the Veradero 

Airport, where the hijacked planes come in, and out 

along the long Veradero spit.  On the ocean side are 

several miles of narrow trenches and occasional 

concrete bunkers – apparently empty. 

     We piled out of the three Fiat buses at the 

International Hotel at Veradero Beach – we were all 
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in suits almost at once and across the very clean 

fine –grained sand into a very clear ocean.  Mohitus 

(mojitos) around the pool later (that’s rum & 

humidity),  
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a good lunch in the ballroom, another swim and we 

were busing back to Havana.  It was nearly 8 PM 

when we arrived.  I called Inhelder immediately. 

Yes, the Mexican Consulate had gotten the OK, and 

when he said they would deliver it at 8:30, we had 

just been talking about our 8:30 departure by plane, 

and I interpreted this as the passport would be 

delivered at the airport just in time to climb aboard.  

 

     Then a big flap, as ICAP will need it for at least a 

½ hr. to massage it all somehow.  We got Carranza 
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to try to see if he couldn’t find a way to get it 

sooner.  Leeda was mad because I felt that if some 

30 of us had to wait 4 days for their plane in Mexico 

City, certainly their plane could wait on hour for 

only one of us.  About 10:30 PM I 
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called Inhelder to get some telephone numbers of 

the Mexicans for Carranza to use & he told me that 

John’s Visa had been delivered at the hotel at 8:30 

this eve!  I kept him on the line while Antoine went 

down 19 floors, and sure enough, it was there in his 

box! 

 

     We all had a few pieces of “Felicidades Molinari”, 

a night cap, and all left.  I packed, left a call for 5:30 

AM, as we were supposed to leave the hotel at 6:00 

and went to bed.  Perhaps we would all get out 

after all. 
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Monday, 26 June, 1972 

     They do take American Express Travelers Checks 

at the Habana Libre, but not the Am Ex cards.  Since 

our $18 / day rate quotation was in Pesos – not 

dollars, our bills were all more than we had planned 

for.  Most of us had contributed to the $375 for 

Antoine’s Madrid tickets, and all were short. 

Fortunately BZ had Travelers checks, and all were 

checked out & paid up. 

     Back into the Fiats, a long wait at the airport, 

Antoine did get his $375 back with his ticket, and 

we were all paid off in the ready lounge.  We all 
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kissed Leeda goodbye, and walked out into the sun 

to cross the tarmack to the same Cuban de Aviacion 

plane that brought us down – I avoided the 

bubbling window this time.   

     Missed earlier:  Our tourist map of Cuba has a 

note below 

55.  

Guantanamo that read (in Spanish) “Territory 

illegally occupied by the U.S. A.”! 

Zetler discovered that children of working mothers 

can put their new children in a free “school” at age 

45 days.  Some of the women visited one and 

reported really fine facilities.  He added that the 

several fine – looking marinas we passed en route 

to Veradero had not one boat in them – possibly a 

precaution.  He discovered from Severano that 

numerous Cubans have money hidden away, and a 

vacation at Veradero “ is one way the Government 

can get it back”.  You can have the cost of your 
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vacation deducted from your salary in installments 

the following year. 

MacGillavary (Netherlands) was walking along 

Veradero Beach – walking away from the Hotel and 

was told quite sharply that he was to  
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return “to the recreation area”. 

     Where the Milan Theatre was showing a “Film 

Sovietico” Iast week, this week it is a “Film 

Norteamericano” starring Buster Keaton.  Leeda 

says they change weekly – USSR-USA-Italy, etc. 

     Kenny from Trinidad asked one of the better 

educated ICAP girls- two year of college – about the 

Maine and was told that the Norteamericans blew it 

up themselves so they would have an excuse to 

invade Cuba, and she had never even heard of the 

Yellow Fever Battle that really made the Caribbean 

safe to live in. 
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     Most of us felt we were pretty closely watched 

all the time we were there.  ICAP was, of course, 

one way. The 
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ICAP people told us they had a room at the hotel to 

change in but that they went home each night, 

when in fact the 14th floor is primarily ICAP, and all 

stayed there each night.  The evening at the Cabaret 

in the Habana Libre, two Cuban men took the table 

just behind the one the ten of us had.  They looked 

most bored and stretched one drink each for the 

full two-hour show.  Lankford – I think it was he – 

asked a Cuban girl at a nearby table to dance and 

his Spanish is good enough to know that she said 

“not while those two are there” and looked their 

way.  We all danced with “our dollies” as Kenny 

calls the ICAP girls, and left about 2 AM after 
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draining our resources even more.  There were 

others still dancing, but we couldn’t sleep in for long 

and left.  I was 
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the last out.  Once out, I turned around and went 

back as though to get something at the table.  The 

slighter of the two men was already at the door and 

stepped aside as I came back in and then went on 

out.  The other man was still trying to get a waiter 

and looked eager to get out.  When I went back out, 

all our gang was still waiting for the elevators, and 

the slight man was nowhere to be seen. 

 

     It is a very strange environment to work in, and I 

must admit I felt quite uneasy most of the time. 
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     With the 2 hours switch in time between Cuba 

and Mexico City, and then back again between 

Mexico and Miami, I am all fouled up.  We had 

about 3 hours to wait, boarded Aero Mexico #450 

about noon for the flight 
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home.  Jake Kenny & Lennox Ballah of Trinidad are 

with us, and I will put them up at our house tonight, 

as they have a BWI flight to Trinidad tomorrow 

afternoon.  

     It has been an interesting trip, but I think I will 

wait until Cuba is a happier city before I try it again-

------      
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